# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FILED

APR 18 2016

THE PEOPLE,	)		Frank A. McGuire Clerk
	j	No. S230906	Deputy
Plaintiff and Respondent,	)		
·	)	First District Co	urt of Appeal
V.	)	No. A140050	
	)		
ALLEN DIMEN DELEON,	)	Solano County	
	)	No. FCR302185	
Defendant and Appellant.	)		

Appeal from a Judgment of the Superior Court of the County of Solano, State of California

Honorable Robert Bowers, Judge

#### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Roberta Simon Attorney at Law State Bar No. 139807 Post Office Box 10728 Oakland, CA 94610 (510) 763-7226 rsarasimon@hotmail.com

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

In light of the changes made to the parole revocation process in the 2011 realignment legislation (Stats. 2011, ch. 15; 2012, ch. 43), is a parolee entitled to a probable cause hearing conducted according to the procedures outlined in *Morrissey v. Brewer* (1972) 408 U.S. 471 before parole can be revoked?

#### **INTRODUCTION**

On April 5, 2011, California Governor Edmund G. Brown signed into law AB 109, the "2011 Realignment Legislation Addressing Public Safety" ("Realignment"), which significantly altered the state's criminal justice system. These measures shifted responsibility for certain low-level offenders, parole violators, and parolees, previously the state's responsibility, to California counties. Starting October 1, 2011, three significant changes occurred: (1) felony offenders never convicted of a serious or violent crime or an aggravated white collar crime and not required to register as sex offenders will serve their sentences in local custody; (2) most offenders released from prison will be subject to local postrelease supervision rather that state parole; and (3) parolees who violate a condition of release will no longer be returned to prison, but will serve out their custodial punishment in county jail. In his signing message, Governor Brown proclaimed: "California's correctional system has to change, and this bill is a bold move in the right direction. For too long, the State's prison system has been a revolving door for lower-level offenders and parole violators who are released within months – often before they are even transferred out of a reception center. Cycling these offenders through state prisons wastes money, aggravates crowded conditions, thwarts rehabilitation, and impedes local law enforcement supervision." (Abarbanel et al., Realigning the Revolving Door: An Analysis of California Counties' AB 109 2011-2012 Implementation Plans (2013) Stanford Criminal Justice Center 1, 5.)

The legislation established, inter alia, a uniform process for revocation of probation, parole, and postrelease supervision of felons. (Sen. Bill No. 1023 (2011-2012 Reg. Sess.) § 2(a).) The Legislature intended this uniform procedure to comply with *Morrissey v. Brewer* (1972) 408 U.S. 472, which set forth the minimum due process requirements for parole revocation proceedings, including the requirement of a timely prerevocation probable cause hearing. (Sen. Bill No. 1023 (2011-2012 Reg. Sess.) § 2(b).) Under this uniform procedure, the courts have jurisdiction over petitions for revocation of supervision, including parole. (Pen. Code, § 1203.2, subds. (a), (b).) The uniform process became effective as to parolees on July 1, 2013. (Pen. Code, § 3000.08, subd. (m).)

Appellant maintains that, contrary to the holding of the Court of Appeal below, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution requires a *Morrissey*-compliant probable cause hearing within 15 days of arrest on a charged parole violation. He contends that not requiring a *Morrissey*-compliant probable cause determination within 15 days denies him and other parolees the procedural protections to which he is entitled in revocation proceedings by both statute and established principles of procedural due process. As he was not provided with such a hearing, he requests dismissal of his sustained parole violation. In this regard, appellant asks this Court to follow the decision of Division Three of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Williams v. Superior Court* (2014) 230 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 636, which held that "in parole revocation proceedings, a parolee is entitled to . . . a probable cause hearing within 15 days of the arrest." (*Id.* at 643.)

Whether due process requires a timely evidentiary preliminary probable cause hearing following revocation of parole must be analyzed under the requisites of the federal Constitution. Analysis under the due process clauses of the California Constitution is similar, and in this case would not lead to a different result. (See *People v. Ramirez* (1979) 25 Cal.3d 260, 269 [articulating this Court's four-part procedural due process test under the California Constitution].)

Appellant will analyze what process is due in four ways. First, the Legislature has resolved this procedural issue to reach the conclusion that due process requires a *Morrissey*-compliant probable cause hearing within 15 days of arrest on a charged parole violation. Second, a preliminary probable cause hearing is required by the relevant United States Supreme Court cases of *Morrissey v. Brewer, supra,* 408 U.S. 471 and *Gagnon v. Scarpelli* (1973) 411 U.S. 778. Third, this result is also derived from balancing the factors under the three-part federal constitutional test for determining procedural due process rights set forth in *Mathews v. Eldridge* (1976) 424 U.S. 319. Finally, other types of revocation proceedings which have been held not to require such a timely preliminary probable cause hearing are distinguishable from the parole context.

Section 19 Section 19

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was arrested on August 23, 2013. (CT 5, 10; RT [9-11-13] 5; RT [9-25-13] 8.) On August 30, 2013, the Fairfield Parole Unit filed a petition to revoke appellant's parole. (CT 1; RT [9-25-13] 8.) On September 6, 2013, the Solano County Superior Court, ex parte, found probable cause to support a revocation, and preliminarily revoked supervision. (CT 1; RT [9-25-13] 9.) On September 11, 2013, when appellant was appointed counsel and brought to court for the first time, his attorney requested a dismissal on grounds that appellant's statutory due process rights had been violated. (CT 2, 5, 10; RT [9-11-13] 4-5.) In response, the prosecutor requested that a written motion be filed. (RT [9-11-13] 5.) Defense counsel requested an immediate remedy of discharging the petition. (RT [9-11-13] 5-6.) The judge asked for briefing, and continued the hearing. (RT [9-11-13] 7.) After briefs were filed, a hearing on the motion to dismiss was held on September 25, 2013, after which the court denied the motion to dismiss. (CT 16; RT [9-25-13] 4, 10.) On October 3, 2013, a contested hearing on the alleged parole violation was held. (CT 19-20; RT [10-3-13] 4.) The court found appellant in violation of parole, and sentenced him to 180 days in jail. (CT 19-20; RT [10-3-13] 35-37.)

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on October 8, 2013. (CT 21.) On appeal, he contended that his revocation must be reversed and vacated due to the superior court's failure to timely conduct a preliminary probable cause hearing. The Court of Appeal concluded that, under the parole revocation scheme embodied in Penal Code sections

1203.2 and 3000.08 as amended by the 2011 Realignment Act, superior courts are not required to conduct preliminary probable cause hearings as specified in *Morrissey v. Brewer, supra*, 408 U.S. 471, before revoking parole, and that a timely single hearing procedure can suffice. The Court of Appeal held appellant was afforded constitutionally adequate process, and affirmed the order finding him in violation of parole and sentencing him to 180 days in custody. Rehearing was denied on November 20, 2015, and review was granted on February 16, 2016.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>1</sup>

On August 23, 2013, officers and agents of the SAFE Task Force, a sex offender task force run by the Sheriff's Office in conjunction with U.S. Marshals, Probation, and Parole, conducted a parole search of appellant's motel room in Vallejo. (RT [10-3-13] 26-28.) Two cell phones belonging to appellant were located. (RT [10-3-13] 28.) One of the phones contained the following: A video of a male masturbating in that motel room (RT [10-3-13] 29); and photographs of teenagers or young adults showing their genitals in sexually explicit positions (RT [10-3-13] 29, 35); adult women showing their breasts and vaginal areas (RT [10-3-13] 30); girls under 18 showing their breasts and vaginal areas (RT [10-3-13] 30-31); pre-pubescents in underwear (RT [10-3-13] 31, 36); and adults in various positions of fornication and/or nakedness (RT [10-3-13] 35.) The photographs were admitted into evidence. (RT [10-3-13] 32-33; People's Exhibits 1-8.)

The court found appellant to be in violation of parole conditions that prohibited him from possessing pornography and possessing material depicting children in undergarments. (SCT 1, 6, 24; RT [10-3-13] 35-36.)

<sup>1</sup> The factual summary is taken from the hearing on the parole violation held on October 3, 2013.

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE SUPERIOR COURT'S FAILURE TO HOLD A TIMELY PROBABLE CAUSE HEARING CONSISTENT WITH GOVERNING STATUTES AND ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS REQUIRES DISMISSAL OF THE CHARGED PAROLE VIOLATION

# A. Governing Parole Revocation Statutes Require A Preliminary Probable Cause Hearing

The requirement of a timely preliminary probable cause hearing would comply with the mandates of the California statutes which govern parole revocation.

Prior to realignment, the state's administrative parole revocation proceedings were operated pursuant to an injunction issued by a federal district court that required preliminary probable cause hearings within ten days of the parolee being given notice of the charges. After the enactment of realignment, the federal district court lifted the injunction and dismissed the case as moot. (*Valdivia v. Brown* (E.D. Cal. 2013) 956 F.Supp.2d 1125, 1126-1227.) In doing so, however, the federal court cautioned that "[w]hether the new system provides adequate due process must be demonstrated in practice without untoward judicial interference until the need for intervention is clear." (*Id.* at 1136-1137.) The court also warned that "a rever[sion] to a wholly internal review process for assessing probable cause" might represent a return to "the type [of probable cause determination] that this court found unconstitutional [in *Valdivia I*] in 2002.

Nevertheless, for the reasons set forth above, any such infirmities will have to be addressed, if at all, in a subsequent lawsuit or lawsuits." (*Id.* at 1137.)

Previously, the Board of Parole Hearings conducted parole probable cause and revocation hearings. In 2012, as part of the realignment system, the Legislature amended Penal Code section 1203.2, which previously dealt solely with revocation of probation, to apply to the revocation of multiple forms of supervision (Pen. Code, § 1203.2, subds. (a), (f)(3)), thereby establishing a uniform process for revocation of parole, probation, and postrelease supervision of most felons. (3 Witkin & Epstein, Cal. Criminal Law (4<sup>th</sup> ed. 2014 supp.) Punishment, § 687A, p. 121.) Consequently, under current section 1203.2, the court has authority to revoke the supervision of a person on grounds specified in the statute. (Pen. Code, § 1203.2, subds. (a), (b).)

The legislation was intended to promote uniform parole revocation procedures and "simultaneously incorporate the procedural due process protections held to apply to probation revocation procedures under *Morrissey v. Brewer* (1972) 408 U.S. 471, *People v. Vickers* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 451, and their progeny." (2011 Realignment Legislation, SB 1023, Sec. 2(b), effective June 27, 2012.)

Penal Code section 1203.2 governs the procedure for courts to use to adjudicate alleged parole violations. Penal Code section 3000.08, subdivision (c), allows for the arrest of a parolee with or without a warrant. Penal Code section 3000.08, subdivision (d), governs intermediate sanctions for parole violations, and states that after finding good cause that the parolee has violated a condition of parole, the parole board may add additional conditions of parole, including treatment and rehabilitation services, incentives, and "immediate, structured, and intermediate sanctions." Penal Code section 3000.08,

subdivision (f), requires the supervising parole agency to determine that intermediate sanctions are not appropriate before filing a formal petition to revoke parole.

With the filing of a petition to revoke parole, courts become involved with a parole violation. If the parole board determines that intermediate sanctions are not appropriate, the agency may file a petition with the courts pursuant to Penal Code section 1203.2 for revocation of parole. It is filed in the superior court where the parolee is being supervised. (Pen. Code, 3000.08, subd. (f).) "The petition shall include a written report that contains additional information regarding the petition, including the relevant terms and conditions of parole, the circumstances of the alleged underlying violation, the history and background of the parolee, and any recommendations." (Pen. Code, § 3000.08, subd. (f).)

Penal Code section 3044, subdivision (a)(1) provides: "A parolee shall be entitled to a probable cause hearing no later than 15 days following his or her arrest for violation of parole." Subdivision (a) further provides: "Notwithstanding any other law, the Board of Parole Hearings or its successor in interest shall be the state's parole authority and shall be responsible for protecting victims' rights in the parole process."

Commentators have noted it is unlikely that Penal Code section 3044 applies to the courts. (See *Williams v. Superior Court, supra,* 230 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 658.) Subdivision (b) of Penal Code section 3044 provides: "The board shall report to the Governor." Courts do not "report to the Governor." Courts are not the "state's parole authority" after July 1, 2013. It is doubtful the courts, in the judicial branch of government, can be a successor in interest to the Board of Parole Hearings, which is in the executive branch. Penal Code

section 3044 may at first seem inconsistent with the Legislature's intent to have all supervision revocation proceedings governed by Penal Code section 1203.2. Yet Penal Code section 3044 is still on the books. (*Williams v. Superior Court, supra.*)

Williams v. Superior Court, supra, 230 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 630 provides a well-reasoned statutory analysis demonstrating that Penal Code section 3044's mandate of a probable cause hearing within 15 days of a parolee's arrest still applies. (Williams v. Superior Court, supra, at 657-659.) That statutory analysis was not considered by the Court of Appeal below in DeLeon. The analysis is set forth in the following three paragraphs.

Although Penal Code section 3044 might appear to be superseded by the realignment statutes, the implied repeal of a statute is disfavored. (Crosby v. Patch (1861) 18 Cal. 438, 441.) "A new statute is not construed as an 'implied repeal' unless it is clear that the later enactment is intended to supersede the existing law." (California Oak Foundation v. County of Tehama (2009) 174 Cal.App.4th 1217, 112.) Rather, the two must be construed together, and effect given, if possible, to both. (Crosby, supra, at 441.) Further, Penal Code section 3044 was enacted as a voter initiative, which, by its terms may "not be amended by the Legislature except by a statute passed in each house by roll-call vote entered in the journal, three-fourths of the membership of each house concurring, or by a statute that becomes effective only when approved by the voters." (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2008) text of Prop. 9, § 9, p. 132.) Penal Code section 1203.2 was passed in its current form as Senate Bill No. 76 in the California Senate by a vote of 30 senators (three-fourths of the senate membership of 40), and by the California

Assembly by a vote of 54 to 25 (a margin less than three-fourths of the assembly membership). These margins thus were less than the 75 percent concurrence in both houses as required by the terms of Proposition 9 for an implied amendment or repeal of Penal Code section 3044. (See also Cal. Const., art. II, § 10 subd. (c) [forbidding the Legislature from amending enactments made by voter intitiative if the amendments are inconsistent with that initiative].) (*Williams v. Superior Court, supra,* 230 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 658.)

While the courts may not be the "successor in interest" to the Board of Parole Hearings, those portions of Penal Code section 3044 intended to provide minimum standards of due process protection to parolees can be harmonized with section 1203.2. Prime among these minimum standards guaranteed by Penal Code section 3044 are the entitlements to a probable cause hearing within 15 days, and a revocation hearing within 45 days of an arrest for violation of parole. (*Williams v. Superior Court, supra,* 230 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 658-659.)

Thus, Penal Code section 3044, at least as to the right to a preliminary probable cause hearing within 15 days, still applies in post-realignment California to alleged parole violators.

B. Though Still In Constructive Custody, Parolees Retain Certain Basic Rights And Liberty Interests Protected By The Due Process Clause, Including The Right To A Preliminary Probable Cause Hearing As Set Forth In *Morrissey* 

Even if this Court were to conclude that the governing parole revocation statutes do not mandate a preliminary probable cause hearing within 15 days, federal constitutional principles of procedural due process do.

The liberty interests of parolees are not the same as those of ordinary citizens. The United States Supreme Court has recognized that parolees enjoy fewer constitutional rights than do ordinary persons. (Morrissey v. Brewer, supra, 408 U.S. at 482.) This Court has likewise observed that "[f]he interest in parole supervision to ensure public safety, which justifies administrative parole revocation proceedings in lieu of criminal trial with the attendant protections accorded defendants by the Bill of Rights, also permits restrictions on parolees' liberty and privacy interests." (People v. Burgener (1986) 41 Cal.3d 505, 532, overruled on other grounds in *People v. Reyes* (1998) 19 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 743, 756.) "Parole is the conditional release of a prisoner who has already served part of his or her state prison sentence. Once released from confinement, a prisoner on parole is not free from legal restraint, but is constructively a prisoner in the legal custody of state prison authorities until officially discharged from parole." (Prison Law Office v. Koenig (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 560, 566, citing *People v. Borja* (1980) 110 Cal.App.3d 378, 382; *People* v. Burgener, supra, at 531; Pen. Code, § 3056 [prisoners on parole remain under the supervision of the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation].)

On the other hand, although under the constructive custody and supervision of the parole authorities, parolees nevertheless retain certain basic rights and liberty interests while on parole. "[T]he liberty of a parolee . . . includes many of the core values of unqualified liberty," and his or her "condition is very different from that of confinement in a prison." (*Morrissey v. Brewer, supra*, 408 U.S. at 482; see also *People v. Burgener*, supra, 41 Cal.3d at 530.) As *Burgener*, quoting a commentator, observed, "[I]n most cases the life of a parolee more nearly resembles that of an ordinary citizen than that of a prisoner. The parolee is not incarcerated; he is not subjected to a prison regimen, to the rigors of prison life and the unavoidable company of sociopaths . . . . The parolee lives among people who are free to come and go when and as they wish. Except for the conditions of parole, he is one of them.' (Note (1969) 22 Stan.L.Rev. 129, 133; see also White, The Fourth Amendment Rights of Parolees and Probationers (1969) 31 U.Pitt.LRev. 167, 177.)" (*People v. Burgener, supra*, at 530.)

Procedural due process grants a right to notice and a hearing whenever government action threatens an individual with a loss of liberty or property. (Fuentes v. Shevin (1972) 407 U.S. 67, 80.) In Goldberg v. Kelly (1970) 397 U.S. 254, the United States Supreme Court held that procedural due process required an evidentiary hearing prior to the termination of welfare benefits. In Morrissey v. Brewer, supra, 408 U.S. 471, applying the standard notice-and-hearing due process model, the high court concluded that when the government seeks to revoke a convicted defendant's parole, the defendant is constitutionally entitled to a preliminary probable cause hearing immediately following his

arrest to review the factual basis to justify recommitting him to prison, pending a final evidentiary hearing. (*Id.* at 485-488.)

In *Morrissey, supra,* 408 U.S. 471, two petitioners alleged they were denied due process when their paroles were revoked without a hearing based on the parole board's review of the parole officer's written reports. (*Id.* at 472-474.) The United States Supreme Court stated that a parolee is not entitled to the full panoply of due process rights, because parole revocation is not a part of a criminal prosecution and because revocation deprives a parolee of conditional liberty, not absolute liberty. (*Id.* at 480.) Nevertheless, *Morrissey* held that a parolee who has been detained for a parole violation is entitled to both an informal probable cause hearing and a final revocation hearing. (*Id.* at 485, 487.)

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