In the Supreme Court of the State of California

JUN 1 6 2016

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ALLEN DIMEN DELEON,

Defendant and Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Case No. S230906

First Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. A140050 Solano County Superior Court, Case No. FCR302185 The Honorable Robert S. Bowers, Jr., Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The due process protections required in parole revocation proceedings in California are governed by *Morrissey*, *Vickers*, and their progeny. Under these precedents, a parolee who is arrested and held in custody for an alleged parole violation must be afforded (1) an informal probable cause hearing³ as promptly as convenient after arrest while information is fresh and sources are available to determine whether there is probable cause to believe the parolee has committed acts that would constitute a violation of parole conditions, and (2) an opportunity for a final revocation hearing within a reasonable time after being taken into custody before the final decision on whether parole should be revoked.

The informal probable cause hearing is a minimal inquiry akin to a preliminary hearing in criminal proceedings. The probable cause determination must be made by an independent officer who makes a record of the proceeding. The parolee must be given notice of the hearing and its purpose, including what parole violations have been alleged. At the

³ Morrissey referred to the hearing as a "preliminary hearing," and this court has alternatively referred to it as a "probable cause hearing" (In re Law (1973) 10 Cal.3d 21; see id. at p. 26, fn. 4) and a "prerevocation hearing" (In re La Croix (1974) 12 Cal.3d 146). For clarity, respondent will refer to the hearing as a probable cause hearing.

hearing, the parolee may appear, speak in his own behalf, bring letters, documents, or individuals that can provide information relevant to the determination, and question any person who gives adverse information against him.

The due process requirements are flexible enough that other independent hearings may satisfy the probable cause hearing requirement if they otherwise satisfy the same requirements. A unitary hearing, which serves the purposes of both the probable cause and final revocation hearings, may be appropriate if the hearing is held promptly after arrest. A prompt unitary hearing procedure meets the rationales supporting the probable cause hearing requirement, promotes judicial efficiency, and provides the flexibility necessary for all counties to effectively implement the mandates of due process. California and other jurisdictions have approved of a timely unitary hearing procedure for both parole revocation and probation revocation proceedings. Penal Code⁴ section 1203.2, which governs parole revocation proceedings, provides for a timely unitary hearing procedure.

Temporally, due process requires only that the informal probable cause hearing be conducted as promptly as convenient after a parolee's arrest for an alleged parole violation. Neither *Morrissey* nor the due process balancing test in *Mathews v. Eldridge* (1976) 424 U.S. 319 (*Mathews*) requires a separate probable cause hearing to take place within 15 days of arrest or within any set number of days. *Williams v. Superior Court* (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 636 (*Williams*), which required a probable cause hearing to be held within 15 days of arrest, should not be followed because it relied on a state statute that does not apply to parole revocation

⁴ All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

proceedings conducted by the superior courts pursuant to section 1203.2 and because its holding was based on a showing that the due process rights of parolees were being systematically violated in Orange County. The specific requirements deemed necessary to fix the manifest procedural inadequacies in Orange County should not be forced upon any other county in the absence of a showing that the parole revocation process in that county also systematically violated the due process rights of parolees.

Due process was not satisfied in this case because appellant did not receive a hearing as promptly as convenient after arrest that satisfied all of the constitutional requirements for a probable cause hearing. However, appellant was not prejudiced by any constitutional violation because he received a timely, fair, and proper final revocation hearing before his parole was revoked. Therefore, he is not entitled to have his parole violation set aside or dismissed.

ARGUMENT

I. WHEN A PAROLEE IS ARRESTED AND HELD IN CUSTODY FOR AN ALLEGED PAROLE VIOLATION, DUE PROCESS REQUIRES THAT THE PAROLEE RECEIVE THE EQUIVALENT OF AN INFORMAL PROBABLE CAUSE HEARING AS PROMPTLY AS CONVENIENT AFTER ARREST; APPELLANT DID NOT RECEIVE SUCH A HEARING IN THIS CASE, BUT HE WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY ANY ERROR

Appellant complains that the superior court failed to hold a timely probable cause hearing consistent with state law and constitutional procedural due process principles prior to revoking his parole. He contends that the failure to hold a probable cause hearing within 15 days of his arrest requires dismissal of the charged parole violation. (AOB 8-36.)

The constitutional requirements of a probable cause hearing in a parole revocation proceeding conducted by the superior court pursuant to section 1203.2 are governed by *Morrissey* and its progeny. A probable

cause hearing, which may be informal and may be unified with a final revocation hearing or other similar proceeding, must only be conducted "as promptly as convenient" after the parolee's arrest. (*Morrissey, supra*, 408 U.S. at p. 485.) Respondent submits that the superior court's probable cause determination in this case did not satisfy the constitutional requirements set forth in *Morrissey*. However, appellant did not suffer any prejudice from the court's constitutionally-deficient probable cause determination. Therefore, dismissal is not required.

A. Relevant Law Concerning Parole Revocation Proceedings

Historically in California the power to revoke parole was vested in the executive branch in the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, not the courts. (*In re Prather* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 238, 254.) The proper function of the courts in respect to the revocation of parole was simply to ensure that the parolee was accorded due process. (*Ibid.*)

As part of the 2011 Realignment Legislation, the superior courts assumed jurisdiction for the purpose of hearing petitions to revoke parole in most instances beginning on July 1, 2013. (§ 3000.08; Stats. 2011, ch. 39, § 38 (AB 117); Stats. 2011-2012, 1st Ex. Sess. 2011, ch. 12, § 18 (ABX1 17).) In follow-up legislation in 2012, the procedure for parole revocation proceedings upon the filing of a petition to revoke parole was streamlined with the revocation procedures for other distinct forms of supervision (probation, mandatory supervision, and postrelease community supervision) to promote a uniform supervision revocation process. (§ 1203.2; Stats. 2012, ch. 43, §§ 2, 30, 35 (SB 1023).) Until then, section 1203.2 had traditionally applied only to probation revocation proceedings.

The system codified in sections 1203.2 and 3000.08 provides that if any parole officer or peace officer has probable cause to believe that a parolee has violated a term or condition of his parole, that officer may

either arrest the parolee, with or without a warrant, or alternatively the court may, in its discretion, issue a warrant for the parolee's arrest. (§§ 1203.2, subd. (a); 3000.08, subd. (c).) Upon internal review and a finding of good cause that the parolee has committed a violation of law or violated his or her conditions of parole, DAPO may impose additional and appropriate conditions of supervision and impose immediate, structured, and intermediate sanctions for parole violations. (§ 3000.08, subd. (d).) If DAPO determines that intermediate sanctions are not appropriate, it shall file a petition to revoke parole in either the court in the county in which the parolee is being supervised or the court in the county in which the alleged parole violation occurred. (§§ 1203.2, subd. (b); 3000.08, subd. (f).) The petition shall include a written report containing, among other things, the relevant terms and conditions of parole, the circumstances of the alleged underlying violation, the history and background of the parolee, any recommendations, and the reasons for the determination that intermediate sanctions without court intervention were inappropriate responses to the alleged violation. (§ 3000.08, subd. (f); Cal. Rules of Court, rule 4.541.) DAPO must give notice of its petition to the parolee. (§ 1203.2, subd. (b).) After consideration of the petition and report and finding that the parolee has violated the conditions of his parole, the superior court may modify or revoke parole if the interests of justice so require, including order confinement in the county jail for not longer than 180 days. (§§ 1203.2, subds. (a), (b)(1); 3000.08, subds. (f), (g).)

In passing Senate Bill 1023, the Legislature expressed its intent that the amendments to the parole revocation process were intended to incorporate the procedural due process protections held to apply to probation revocation procedures under *Morrissey*, *Vickers*, and their progeny. (Stats. 2012, Ch. 43, § 2.) In *Morrissey*, the United States Supreme Court held that due process requires that a parolee arrested and

held in custody for violating the conditions of his parole be afforded: (1) an informal preliminary hearing "as promptly as convenient after arrest while information is fresh and sources are available" to determine whether there is probable cause or reasonable ground to believe that the arrested parolee has committed acts that would constitute a violation of parole conditions (*Morrissey, supra*, 408 U.S. at pp. 485-487), and (2) an opportunity for a revocation hearing "within a reasonable time after the parolee is taken into custody" and prior to the final decision on revocation that leads to a final evaluation of any contested relevant facts and consideration of whether the facts as determined warrant revocation (*id.* at pp. 487-489).

Morrissey described the required informal hearing to determine probable cause as "some minimal inquiry" akin to a "preliminary hearing" in criminal proceedings. (Morrissey, supra, 408 U.S. at p. 485.) "No interest would be served by formalism in this process; informality will not lessen the utility of this inquiry in reducing the risk of error." (Id. at p. 487.) Morrissey required that the probable cause determination be made by an independent officer—though it need not be a judicial officer—someone other than the parole officer who has made the report of parole violations or has recommended revocation. (Id. at pp. 485-486.) The parolee shall be given notice of the hearing and its purpose, including what parole violations have been alleged. (Id. at pp. 486-487.) At the hearing, the parolee may appear and speak in his own behalf. (Id. at p. 487.) He may bring letters. documents, or individuals who can give relevant information to the hearing officer. (*Ibid.*) On his request, a person who has given adverse information on which parole revocation is to be based is to be made available for questioning in his presence unless the hearing officer determines that such questioning would risk harm to the person. (Ibid.) The hearing officer has the duty to make a summary or digest of what occurs at the hearing, to determine, based on the evidence before him, whether there is probable

cause to hold the parolee for the final decision on revocation, and to state the reasons for the determination. (*Ibid.*)

The California Supreme Court clarified that other independent hearings, such as preliminary hearings in cases where the conduct which constitutes a prima facie violation of parole is also independently charged as a new felony, may also satisfy the probable cause hearing requirement mandated by *Morrissey* in parole revocation cases. (*In re Law, supra*, 10 Cal.3d at p. 27; *In re La Croix, supra*, 12 Cal.3d at pp. 151-153.) The court noted that the practice would, in appropriate cases, eliminate needless duplication and prevent the parolee from being subjected to two proceedings. (*In re Law,* at p. 27.) No purpose would be served by requiring an independent probable cause hearing in such instances when the parolee already receives its equivalent. (*Ibid.*)

The due process requirements articulated in *Morrissey* were also applied to probation revocation proceedings conducted pursuant to section 1203.2. In *Vickers*, the court determined that it could not distinguish between parole revocation and probation revocation for purposes of due process. (*Vickers, supra*, 8 Cal.3d at p. 458.) It recognized, however, that the precise nature of the proceedings need not be identical if they assure "equivalent due process safeguards." (*Ibid.*) In addition, *Vickers* created a judicially declared rule of criminal procedure that a probationer is entitled to the representation of retained or appointed counsel at formal probation revocation proceedings. (*Id.* at pp. 461-462.) Subsequently in *People v. Coleman* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 867, the court clarified that a unitary hearing, combining both the preliminary hearing and the formal revocation hearing, will usually suffice in probation revocation proceedings so long as "equivalent due process safeguards" assure that the probationer is not

arbitrarily deprived of his conditional liberty for any "significant period of time." (*Id.* at pp. 894-895.) The court reasoned that probation revocation proceedings are judicial proceedings with concomitant procedural benefits for a probationer at all stages of the revocation process, often including a judicial determination of probable cause preceding the arrest and a formal revocation hearing relatively soon after arrest. (*Ibid.*)⁶

B. Due Process Requires An Informal Probable Cause Hearing "as Promptly as Convenient" after A Parolee's Arrest for An Alleged Parole Violation Prior to The Revocation of Parole

Respondent agrees with appellant that due process, as articulated in *Morrissey*, requires some sort of probable cause hearing after a parolee's arrest for an alleged violation of parole prior to revoking parole for that violation. Just as it was concluded in *Vickers*, respondent cannot distinguish parole revocation proceedings from probation revocation proceedings under the current state of California law "in principle insofar as the demands of due process are concerned." (*Vickers, supra*, 8 Cal.3d at p. 458.) However, the constitutional requirements concerning the nature and timeliness of the probable cause hearing do not require such a rigid

⁵ Although the court in *In re La Croix* did not reach the question of whether a unitary hearing could satisfy *Morrissey*, it did suggest that a unitary hearing held within a few weeks of arrest might suffice in the parole revocation context. (*In re La Croix, supra*, 12 Cal.3d at p. 153, fn. 3.)

⁶ Morrissey, Vickers, and their progeny apply only when the parolee remains in custody pending parole revocation proceedings. (In re La Croix, supra, 12 Cal.3d at p. 152, fn. 2; Vickers, supra, 8 Cal.3d at pp. 460-461.) Effective January 1, 2016, the superior court has the authority to release a parolee from custody under any terms and conditions it deems appropriate after an arrest for an alleged parole violation. (§§ 1203.2, subd. (a), 3000.08, subd. (c), 3056, subd. (a); Stats. 2015, ch. 61, §§ 1-3 (SB 517).) Should the superior court exercise that authority, Morrissey, Vickers, and their progeny will no longer apply to that particular parolee.

procedural structure as set forth in *Williams v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 230 Cal.App.4th 636.

Admittedly, there are some distinctions between the parole revocation process at issue in *Morrissey*, the probation revocation process to which *Morrissey* was applied in *Vickers*, and California's current parole revocation process after the enactment of the Realignment legislation. They are distinctions without a difference, however, when it comes to the application of *Morrissey*'s due process requirements. In light of this Court's precedents and the uniform revocation process provided for in section 1203.2, *Morrissey*'s requirements, and specifically the requirement of a probable cause hearing, should apply to the parole revocation proceedings in this case just as they apply to probation revocation proceedings.

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